IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 85,682

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Chief Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773 OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Swafford was convicted of murder based on circumstantial The victim was abducted from a convenience store in Ormond Beach at 6:20 a.m. on Sunday, February 14, 1982 (the day of the Daytona 500). Her body was found the next day in a wooded area six miles away: she had been shot nine times. The State's case against Mr. Swafford was that he was in the Daytona Beach area that weekend. His whereabouts between 6:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. were unaccounted for by State witnesses, except for the fact that he was alone in an automobile. The State also presented evidence that on the evening of February 14, Mr. Swafford was in possession of a .38 hammerless revolver at a bar known as the Shingle Shack. When police were called to the bar, the gun was not found on Mr. Swafford, although a .38 hammerless revolver was found in a trash can in a rest room. Ballistics later matched the revolver found at the Shingle Shack to the homicide.

In Mr. Swafford's most recent Rule 3.850 motion, undersigned counsel presented the affidavit of Michael Lestz, a witness post-conviction counsel had previously been unable to locate despite diligent effort. This affidavit builds an equally compelling circumstantial evidence case against an individual named Michael Walsh. Mr. Lestz's affidavit provides:

My name is Michael Eugene Lestz and I live in the state of Illinois. In 1982 I was in Daytona Beach, Florida during the Daytona 500. The Daytona 500 Auto Race took place on Sunday, February 14, 1982.

While I was there, I was in the presence of two guys named Walter Levi and Michael

Walsh. Michael Walsh borrowed my van on several occasions and without telling me where he was going. I previously told the Daytona Beach sheriff's office about these occasions.

I remember, on the day of the Daytona 500, Michael Walsh had two 38 caliber handguns and was in a big hurry to get rid of them. One of these 38's was a hammerless revolver. He told me that the handquns had been used and he had to get rid of them. Walsh started going to different bars in order to get rid of the guns. One of the places Walsh went to get rid of these handguns was the Shingle Shack Topless bar. The three of us had been to this bar on several occasions and we were all very familiar with it. Also Michael was acting very nervous on this particular day. He said it was because he didn't want the guns in his possession.

A couple of days after the Daytona 500 and after Michael Walsh had gotten rid of the two guns, we were in the parking lot of a store and there were pamphlets about the Brenda Rucker homicide. Walsh became upset and began to snatch the pamphlets off the cars saying they shouldn't be looking for the suspect in Daytona Beach when she was not killed here. Walsh would never tell us what he meant by this.

Two sheriff's officers from the Volusia County Sheriff's department came to interview me when I was in the Marion Federal Prison in Illinois. I gave them detailed, truthful statements of what I could remember at that time. At some point at a later date I remembered some more details and I wrote them back to explain the details to them. They wrote me back and told me to "not worry about it."

Because I was with Michael Walsh before and after the incident, I knew how he was acting and I think there is a good chance that he committed the murder of Brenda Rucker.

(Affidavit of Michael E. Lestz, PC-R3. 22-23) (emphasis added).

Police reports undisclosed at Mr. Swafford's trial indicated that

Mr. Walsh's whereabouts between 6:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. on

February 14, 1982, could not be accounted for.

Even though the police had interviewed Mr. Lestz prior to Mr. Swafford's trial, neither his statement nor his name were disclosed to Mr. Swafford's defense attorney, Ray Cass. In light of Mr. Lestz's affidavit, Mr. Cass has stated in an affidavit:

Upon being appointed to represent Mr. Swafford I filed a Request for Discovery. The purpose of this request was to obtain from the State of Florida all materials which would have been exculpatory and also those materials which would have provided impeachment material to aid the defense in presenting Mr. Swafford's case to the jury. In short, the materials which I requested were all materials which would have been discoverable under Brady v. Maryland, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963).

When I asked for all discoverable materials in this case I certainly expected to be provided with all relevant police reports in the matter. In particular, I expected to be provided information implicating others in the homicide. would have clearly been exculpatory as to Mr. Swafford. I was given a handful of police reports and it was represented to me that those were all of the police reports that existed. I was not provided any information about suspects by the names of Walsh, Levi, and/or Lestz. At no time prior to trial did I learn about the existence of other significant suspects. In fact, I was told by the prosecutor that any additional suspects had been ruled out.

I have been recently been provided police reports regarding Walsh, Levi and Lestz. These police reports are attached to this affidavit (Attachments A-E). I never received any reports whatsoever which related

to an individual by the name of Michael Walsh, nor did I receive reports relating to Walsh's companions, Walter Levi or Michael Lestz. I have been shown copies of these police reports and I know that I would have used these reports at trial by way of impeachment of the detectives and to investigate present evidence that one or more of these three individuals committed the homicide if I had been given the opportunity. Instead, I was kept in the dark about the existence of these other prime suspects. Certainly there can be no doubt, if I had been provided with information relating to these suspects I would have investigated the same. This was precluded, however, because I knew nothing about them. In my opinion this information was discoverable and should have been provided to the defense well before trial.

Further, I have been shown the affidavit of Michael Lestz which implicates Walter Levi and Michael Walsh in the murder of Brenda Rucker. Mr. Lestz's affidavit is attached to this affidavit (Attachment F). Lestz's affidavit demonstrates that had I been advised regarding these suspects and investigated them (as no doubt I would have had I known of their existence) I would have been able to present evidence of their guilt and Mr. Swafford's resulting innocence. affidavit is further proof of Mr. Swafford's innocence and I would have presented the testimony of Mr. Lestz as evidence at Mr. Swafford's trial. The testimony of Mr. Lestz would have undermined the State's erroneous theory in this case and would have led to the perpetrators of this crime being brought to justice. I am simply astounded by the State's non disclosure of this exculpatory evidence.

(Affidavit of Ray Cass, PC-R3. 182-87).

As a result of the <u>Brady</u> violation, Mr. Swafford, an innocent man, was convicted and sentenced to death. It is time that this injustice be corrected. At the very least, an evidentiary hearing must be finally ordered.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 14, 1982, at approximately 6:15 a.m., Brenda Rucker was abducted from a Fina station in Ormond Beach, Florida. A composite drawing of the assailant who abducted Ms. Rucker was subsequently prepared.

On February 15, 1982, Ms. Rucker's body was discovered by sheriff's deputies in a wooded area about six miles from the Fina station. Ms. Rucker had been sexually assaulted and shot nine times.

Mr. Swafford was arrested nearly seventeen months later.

The State's case against Mr. Swafford was circumstantial.

According to the State, Mr. Swafford had travelled to Daytona

Beach that weekend for the Daytona 500 with a group of people.

The group camped outside of town at a campground. Mr. Swafford was away from the campground in a vehicle until around 7:00 a.m. on February 14th. He was with a prostitute until about 6:00 a.m. on February 14th. Thus, the State contended that Mr. Swafford abducted Ms. Rucker, sexually assaulted her, and killed her in that one-hour window of opportunity.

The stolen gun which was identified by a ballistics expert as the murder weapon had been found in the Shingle Shack, a bar in Daytona Beach. Testimony was presented indicating

Mr. Swafford had been in possession of such a weapon prior to the arrival of police at the Shingle Shack. Police found the gun in a trash can in a rest room.

The jury returned guilty verdicts of first-degree murder and sexual battery. Mr. Swafford was acquitted of robbery. The penalty phase was conducted on November 7, 1985. Defense counsel presented no defense at the penalty phase proceedings. After the jury recommended death, Judge Hammond sentenced Mr. Swafford to death on November 12, 1985. This Court affirmed the conviction and sentence on direct appeal. Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1988).

On September 7, 1990, Governor Martinez signed a death warrant setting Mr. Swafford's execution for November 13, 1990. Until the signing of the warrant, Mr. Swafford was unrepresented in the post-conviction process. The Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR), the office responsible for providing effective representation to Mr. Swafford in collateral proceedings (Spalding v. Dugger, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988)), had been overwhelmed by Governor Martinez's warrant signing policies. In the Fall of 1990, CCR was on the verge of collapse. CCR had more active warrants than it had experienced attorneys to work on them. The experienced attorneys, who had not yet resigned and/or left, were burned out and in deteriorating health. In fact, on October 24, 1990, this Court entered an Administrative Order recognizing the difficulties confronting CCR (PC-R1. 361).

¹⁰n October 1, 1990, Jerome Nickerson, Assistant CCR, resigned effective November 1, 1990. October 8, 1990, Gail Anderson, Assistant CCR, resigned effective November 8, 1990. Billy Nolas and Julie Naylor resigned effective December 31, 1990. Tom Dunn was reactivated by the military and was sent to Saudi Arabia during the Gulf War.

Mr. Swafford's case was assigned to Jerome Nickerson, who resigned on October 1, 1990, but agreed to remain on at CCR only until Mr. Swafford's execution was stayed.

On October 15, 1990, Mr. Swafford initiated post-conviction proceedings in state court. Included in Mr. Swafford's motion was a claim premised upon a Brady violation. Mr. Swafford had discovered a wealth of exculpatory evidence in Chapter 119 disclosures which had not been disclosed to Mr. Swafford's trial attorney. The nondisclosure included the names of Michael Lestz, Walter Levi, and Michael Walsh and their numerous statements implicating each other in the Rucker homicide. Despite efforts to locate these individuals, they could not be found in the fall of 1990. On October 22, 1990, the State submitted its response. In its Response, the State conceded the appropriateness of an evidentiary hearing (PC-R1. 367). Specifically the State conceded that a hearing was appropriate on the violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1967), as well as on the issue of ineffectiveness of counsel at penalty phase (PC-R1. 7). Despite the State's concessions, no evidentiary hearing was held.

At an October 24, 1990, status hearing, the State produced in excess of one thousand (1000) pages of <u>additional</u> documents that had not been previously given to the defense (PC-R1. 455). This material contained more previously undisclosed exculpatory

²Although this response indicated service by fax on October 22, 1990, this Response was not stamped "filed" until October 31, 1990.

evidence. On October 30, 1990, the circuit court signed an order denying the motion to vacate (PC-R1 436-51).

On November 8, 1990, Mr. Swafford appealed to this Court.

Oral argument was held on November 9, 1990. A temporary stay was issued until 1:00 p.m. on November 15, 1990. On November 14, 1990, this Court issued its opinion denying all relief. Swafford v. State, 569 So. 2d 1264 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Swafford next filed for federal habeas corpus review.

The federal district court denied relief. On November 15, 1990, the Eleventh Circuit granted Mr. Swafford a stay of execution in order to hear Mr. Swafford's appeal. Mr. Nickerson terminated his employment with CCR the next day, November 16, 1990.

While the appeal was pending in the Eleventh Circuit, Mr. Swafford, through newly assigned counsel, continued to conduct further investigation into his case. This included additional efforts to locate Lestz, Levi and Walsh. While the federal appeal was held in abeyance, Mr. Swafford filed a second motion to vacate which was summarily denied. This Court again affirmed the summary denial. Swafford v. State, 636 So. 2d 1309 (Fla. 1994).

In April of 1994, Mr. Swafford's collateral counsel was finally able to locate one of the key witnesses who gave a statement to the Volusia County Sheriff's Office implicating other individuals in the murder of Brenda Rucker. This individual, Mr. Lestz, provided Mr. Swafford's collateral counsel with an affidavit which strongly corroborates the Brady material

that was not disclosed to Mr. Swafford's defense team, and provides new and additional evidence which is exculpatory to Mr. Swafford.

Despite efforts to locate Mr. Lestz previously, collateral counsel was unable to ascertain his whereabouts until April of 1994. Mr. Swafford immediately presented a new motion to vacate.

Based on information obtained from Mr. Lestz, Mr. Swafford filed a new Rule 3.850 motion on June 13, 1994. The State filed its response on September 19, 1994. The circuit court summarily denied all relief on January 10, 1995. Mr. Swafford filed a Motion for Rehearing on January 30, 1995. The State filed a Response to Mr. Swafford's Motion for Rehearing on February 10, 1995. The circuit court denied Mr. Swafford's Motion for Rehearing on April 3, 1995. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Newly discovered evidence establishes a <u>Brady</u> violation and that Mr. Swafford is an innocent man. The circuit court's denial of an evidentiary hearing and Rule 3.850 relief was erroneous.

ARGUMENT I

MR. SWAFFORD WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AS WELL AS HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS, BECAUSE THE STATE WITHHELD EVIDENCE WHICH WAS MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY IN NATURE AND/OR PRESENTED MISLEADING EVIDENCE. SUCH OMISSIONS RENDERED DEFENSE COUNSEL'S REPRESENTATION INEFFECTIVE AND PREVENTED A FULL ADVERSARIAL TESTING. FURTHER, NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT MR. SWAFFORD IS INNOCENT OF THE OFFENSE FOR WHICH HE WAS CONVICTED AND SENTENCED TO DEATH, AND THUS HIS CONVICTION AND DEATH SENTENCE VIOLATE THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

The United States Supreme Court recently recognized that, though a Brady violation may be comprised of individual instances of nondisclosure, proper constitutional analysis requires consideration of the cumulative effect of the individual nondisclosures. Kyles v. Whitley, 115 S. Ct. 1555 (1995). Thus, the proper Brady analysis cannot be conducted when suppression of exculpatory evidence continues or when, despite due diligence, the evidence of the prejudicial effect of the nondisclosure does not surface until later.

A <u>Brady</u> claim requires proof that: 1) the State possessed evidence favorable to the defense; 2) the defense did not possess the evidence in question; 3) the State did not disclose the evidence; and 4) the evidence was material, i.e., its nondisclosure undermines confidence in the outcome. <u>See Duest v. Singletary</u>, 967 F.2d 472 (11th Cir. 1992), <u>rev. and remanded on other grounds</u>, 113 S. Ct. 1940 (1993), <u>adhered to on remand</u>, 997 F.2d 1336. The circuit court in 1990 denied Mr. Swafford's

motion without an evidentiary hearing on the basis that as a matter of law, confidence was not undermined in the outcome. This Court affirmed on the same basis. <u>Swafford v. Dugger</u>, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990). These rulings were made without the benefit of Lestz' affidavit, since Mr. Lestz was unavailable until April of 1994.

Mr. Lestz' affidavit establishes that the State's suppression of evidence must undermine confidence in the outcome. In his affidavit, Mr. Lestz sticks by his statements to the police that Mr. Walsh had an even greater window of opportunity to murder the victim than did Mr. Swafford. According to Mr. Lestz's statement to police, Mr. Walsh was unaccounted for between 6:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. and that during that time he had Mr. Lestz's van. Mr. Lestz further indicates that Mr. Walsh possessed a stolen hammerless .38 revolver which he got rid of at the Shingle Shack on Sunday evening, February 14, 1982. Mr. Lestz also indicates that Walsh became so angry upon seeing the pamphlets containing the composite drawing of the suspect in the Rucker homicide that "[he] began to snatch the pamphlets off the cars." In fact, shortly thereafter, Mr. Walsh was arrested in Arkansas following an armed robbery. Police found the Rucker composite in his back pocket and immediately called Volusia County law enforcement because Walsh looked like the composite.

In light of Lestz's affidavit and in light of <u>Kyles</u>, an evidentiary hearing is required as to the entire <u>Brady</u> claim presented by Mr. Swafford.

A. MR. SWAFFORD IS AN INNOCENT MAN

Evidence uncovered since the time of Mr. Swafford's capital trial and initial post-conviction proceedings establishes that Mr. Swafford is innocent of the offense for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. Consideration of this evidence is required, for it establishes that Mr. Swafford's conviction and death sentence violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments. Kyles v. Whitley, 115 S. Ct. at 1567.

In April of 1994, Mr. Swafford's collateral counsel was finally able to locate one of the key witnesses who gave a statement to the Volusia County Sheriff's Office implicating other individuals in the murder of Brenda Rucker (this statement was never disclosed to defense counsel). This individual, Mr. Lestz provided Mr. Swafford's collateral counsel with an affidavit which proves that, had the State complied with its discovery obligations, Mr. Swafford would have been acquitted:

My name is Michael Eugene Lestz and I live in the state of Illinois. In 1982 I was in Daytona Beach, Florida during the Daytona 500. The Daytona 500 Auto Race took place on Sunday, February 14, 1982.

While I was there, I was in the presence of two guys named Walter Levi and Michael Walsh. Michael Walsh borrowed my van on several occasions and without telling me where he was going. I previously told the Daytona Beach sheriff's office about these occasions.

I remember, on the day of the Daytona 500, Michael Walsh had two 38 caliber handguns and was in a big hurry to get rid of them. One of these 38's was a hammerless revolver. He told me that the handguns had been used and he had to get rid of them. Walsh started going to different bars in order to get rid of the guns. One of the places Walsh went to get rid of these handguns was the Shingle Shack Topless bar. The three of us had been to this bar on several occasions and we were all very familiar with it. Also Michael was acting very nervous on this particular day. He said it was because he didn't want the guns in his possession.

A couple of days after the Daytona 500 and after Michael Walsh had gotten rid of the two guns, we were in the parking lot of a store and there were pamphlets about the Brenda Rucker homicide. Walsh became upset and began to snatch the pamphlets off the cars saying they shouldn't be looking for the suspect in Daytona Beach when she was not killed here. Walsh would never tell us what he meant by this.

Two sheriff's officers from the Volusia County Sheriff's department came to interview me when I was in the Marion Federal Prison in Illinois. I gave them detailed, truthful statements of what I could remember at that time. At some point at a later date I remembered some more details and I wrote them back to explain the details to them. They wrote me back and told me to "not worry about it."

Because I was with Michael Walsh before and after the incident, I knew how he was acting and I think there is a good chance that he committed the murder of Brenda Rucker.

The weapon used to kill the victim in this case was a .38 hammerless revolver.

Despite diligent efforts by Mr. Swafford's collateral counsel to locate Mr. Lestz and other individuals implicated in the murder of Brenda Rucker, collateral counsel was not able to locate Mr. Lestz until Global Tracing Services Inc. reported finding an address in April, 1994.

(Affidavit of Michael E. Lestz, PC-R3. 22-23) (emphasis added) (footnotes added).

As noted above, Mr. Lestz's affidavit corroborates the exculpatory evidence the State possessed which was not disclosed to Mr. Swafford's defense team. According to a July 20, 1982, Volusia County Sheriff's Report, Mr. Lestz revealed that an individual name Walsh had committed three murders in Florida, and that one of the victims was a white female in the Daytona Beach area (PC-R3. 189).

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