# FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 28 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD, Appellant,

CASE NO. 85,682

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF POST CONVICTION RELIEF IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Margene A. Roper Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar # 0302015 Capital Appeals State of Florida Office of the Attorney General 444 Seabreeze Boulevard 5th Floor Daytona Beach, Fl. 32118 (904)238-4990

## **ORAL ARGUMENT**

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

had prepared it, suggesting that the bulletin and testimony would provide a better description of the person seen than the witness's recollection over three years later. The court excluded the bulletin and the officer's testimony. The witness never made an identification of the person he had seen; he only gave a description.

At the conclusion of the penalty phase the jury recommended the death sentence by a vote of 10 to 2. Judge Hammond sentenced Swafford to death for the murder and to life in prison for the sexual battery. (R 1493; 1502-1507) The sentencing court found in aggravation that the murder (1) was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; (2) was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, based on the abduction, fear, mental anguish, sexual abuse and the fact that the killing occurred in such a way as to show a wanton atrocity as Swafford fired nine bullets into the victim's body, most of them directed at the torso and extremities; (3) was cold, calculated and premeditated based on the fact that Swafford shot the victim nine times including two shots to the head at close range and that he had to stop and reload his gun to finish carrying out the shootings; (4) that Swafford committed the murder while engaged in, or in flight after, committing sexual battery; and (5) that Swafford was previously convicted of a felony involving the use of threat or violence to a person in that on January 10, 1983, he was convicted of burglary with assault and sentenced to 30 years. Testimony was heard that he had shot the burglary victim in the face and hip with a .38 revolver. The trial court found that one item of information adduced by the defense constituted a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance. Based on the parties' stipulation that Swafford's father, were he able, would have testified that Swafford had attained the rank of Eagle

Scout, the trial court found that Swafford had indeed been an Eagle Scout and noted "the efforts required to achieve such an honor." The court found the factor entitled to very little weight in mitigation, commenting that it did "demonstrate that the Defendant, at some point in his life, had training and supervision that should have led him to become a lawful contributing citizen." *Swafford v. State*, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988).

On September 7, 1990, Governor Martinez signed a death warrant setting execution for November 13. On October 15, 1990, Swafford filed his first Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion. Judge Hammond held a preliminary hearing on October 24, 1990, and on October 30th summarily denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. Swafford had argued specifically that the state failed to correct perjured testimony and withheld documents relating to other suspects. See, also Swafford's initial brief on appeal from the denial of 3,850 relief in Case No. 76,884, pp. 38-71; (R 52-90A) Swafford complained that the Volusia County Sheriff's Office did not turn over the name of James Michael Walsh, who was considered to have been the most likely individual to have committed the crime. Walsh was arrested in Daytona with the BOLO in his back pants pocket. Swafford alleged that Walsh so closely resembled the BOLO that when he was later apprehended in Arkansas for jumping his bond in Daytona the Arkansas State Police called the VCSO to advise them of the arrest. Further investigation by the police allegedly revealed that Walsh to 1dMichael Lestz that he killed three people while he was in Florida and one of them was a woman; he was present in Daytona at the time of the murder; was accompanied by two colleagues, Walter Levi and Lestz; normally committed breaking and entering crimes in early morning hours; had a

history of sadistic activities; normally carried a .38; had picked Lestz and Levi up or dropped them off at the intersection where the Fina station was located; was solicited by a "B.J." to kill the Dunn brothers for \$10,000; and burned Lestz with a cigarette over fifty times. Police indicated in an affidavit that the burns closely resembled burns found on Brenda Rucker's body. Swafford further alleged that Levi told police that Walsh and Lestz left a motel room at 6:00 a.m. on 2/14/82 and Lestz told Walsh that Levi could not be trusted for the job. Lestz, however, said that it was Levi and Walsh who left together and Lestz did not know where they had gone. Investigators gave Lestz three different polygraphs which he failed on the issue of whether he was present during the Rucker murder and whether he had any knowledge regarding the murder. Swafford further alleged that Walsh had connections to Tennessee, the state from which the alleged murder weapon was stolen. A VCSO report dated 8/3/82 indicated Walsh's wife was known to travel to Tennessee. It was also suspected that Lestz' vehicle which was suspected of having carried the victim was in or around Knoxville or Clarksville. Swafford also alleged that Levi confirmed Lestz' statement they had been at a laundromat within blocks of the Fina station, which was also within one block of B.J. Arkansas police were said to have recovered numerous handguns upon searching Walsh's residence and various types of ammunition which was significant since the police recovered five different types of .38 bullets from the victim's body during autopsy. Swafford also alleged that the state failed to reveal it had interviewed Walsh, described in a July 1982 report of Detective Buscher, in which Walsh denied being contacted to kill anyone; viewed photos of the Rucker homicide and became upset, nervous and unsure of his statements; would

not relate his whereabouts from 2/14 - 2/15, 1982; and indicated he got the composite from a food store and retained it as a matter of curiosity. Swafford complained further that the state withheld evidence that less than forty-eight hours prior to the Rucker murder someone robbed a Majik Market in Holly Hill and a witness provided a composite drawing of the suspect which did not resemble Mr. Seiler's composite. The state is said to have further failed to reveal that on February 19, 1982, someone called and said two individuals matching the composites were seen together in the lounge at the Holiday Inn Surfside in Daytona Beach. Lestz had told Investigator Charles Brown that he met Walsh at the disco of the Holiday Inn. The state is further alleged to have withheld another taped statement of Levi on May 19, 1983, in which he stated Lestz always had a .38 on him and Walsh had one as well. When given a sample polygraph question "Do you know Brenda Rucker?" Levi replied "Yeah" then corrected himself claiming he didn't understand the question. The trial court found that no Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), violation had occurred and that Swafford had not established the materiality of the information he claimed the state withheld. The court concluded: "There is no possibility that the result of the proceeding would have been different even if all this information were available." The Supreme Court of Florida entered a temporary stay and then affirmed the trial court and denied Swafford's petition for writ of habeas corpus, as well. Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So.2d 1 264 (Fla. 1990). The court stated " Swafford has shown no error in the court's ruling, and we hold that the court correctly refused to hold an evidentiary hearing on this claim." 569 So.2d at 1267.

Swafford subsequently filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United

States District Court, Middle District of Florida, Orlando Division raising the same claim. All relief was denied by G. Kendall Sharp, United States District Judge on November 15, 1990. Judge Sharp rejected the claim that the prosecutor used false and misleading evidence. *Swafford v. Dugger*, No. 90-846-Civ-Orl-18 pp 9-12 (M.D.Fla. November 15, 1990); (R 96) From the record Judge Sharp also determined that defense counsel did learn of numerous suspects during the deposition of Lt. Bushdid. The district court further determined that the "other suspects" were not significant and any suppressed evidence would not have affected the outcome of the trial. The court also noted there was no general constitutional right to discovery. p 13.

Swafford then appealed the denial of habeas relief to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. He filed in that court a motion to hold proceedings in abeyance pending resubmission of *Brady* and related issues to the Florida State courts. Such motion was predicated on the premise that the state of Florida was *continuing* to withhold documents. On December 16, 1991, United States Circuit Judge Peter Fay granted Swafford's motion to hold proceedings in abeyance.

In May 1991, Swafford had filed a *second* habeas petition, arguing an alleged conflict of interest of his trial attorney, Howard Pearl, which the Supreme Court of Florida denied. *Swafford v. Singletary*, 584 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1991).

In November 1991, Swafford filed a second rule 3.850 motion. Judge Hammond summarily denied it without an evidentiary hearing in May 1992, as well as a motion for rehearing and disqualification. Swafford again appealed the denial of relief to the Supreme Court of Florida and also moved for relinquishment of jurisdiction, arguing the

need for an evidentiary hearing on whether Swafford's other trial counsel, Ray Cass, had a conflict of interest and whether Judge Hammond engaged in improper ex parte communication with the state. In January 1993, the Supreme Court of Florida granted Swafford's motion to relinquish jurisdiction. On March 29, 1993, Judge Hutcheson held an evidentiary hearing pursuant to the order of the Supreme Court of Florida. The Supreme Court of Florida affirmed the denial of relief finding that no improper ex parte communications occurred and that Cass had no conflict of interest due to his having been given an honorary deputy sheriff's card by a previous sheriff. Swafford v. State, 636 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1994). The claims that Chapter 119 and other Brady violations occurred; counsel was ineffective in the guilt phase; newly discovered evidence establishes Swafford's innocence; counsel was ineffective at the penalty phase; and that there were constitutionally invalid penalty instructions and the improper application of aggravators were found to be procedurally barred because they were or could have been raised previously. In footnote 5, the court noted that at the October 1990 hearing CCR attorney Jay Nickerson said that everything he had requested under Chapter 119 had been disclosed except for some things from the Ormond Beach Police Department and the seventh circuit state attorney's office. Representatives of those offices were present with their records. Judge Hammond inspected them and turned over everything but the officer's personal notes. Nickerson then said that the fourteenth circuit state's attorney office had complied and that he was satisfied with the Chapter 119 disclosures. 636 So.2d at 1311 An Espinosa v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2926 (1992), claim was also found not to have been preserved. Id. On April 29, 1994, Swafford filed a motion for rehearing. On

May 9, 1994, Swafford filed a motion to relinquish jurisdiction and hold appeal in abeyance in light of newly discovered evidence. Swafford made the same allegations he now raises as a newly discovered evidence claim in the instant 3.850 motion and attached the same affidavit of Michael Eugene Lestz. On June 1, 1994, the Supreme Court of Florida entered an order denying the motions. Mandate issued on June 1, 1994.

On or about June 13, 1994, Swafford filed the instant third 3,850 motion. He again alleged in it that he is innocent and has newly discovered evidence. Collateral counsel claimed to have finally located Lestz, who signed an affidavit which counsel argues strongly corroborates the Brady material that was not disclosed to the defense. Lestz alleges in the affidavit that on the day of the Daytona 500 Walsh had two .38's, which he said had been used, and he was in a hurry to get rid of them. He was acting very nervous because he didn't want the guns in his possession. One was a hammerless revolver which was the type of weapon that killed the victim. He went to different bars. One of the places he went to get rid of the guns was the Shingle Shack, which all three had been to on several occasions and were familiar with. A couple of days later they were in the parking lot of a store and there were pamphlets about the Rucker homicide. Walsh became upset and snatched pamphlets off cars saying they shouldn't be looking for the suspect in Daytona Beach when she was not killed here. Lestz concluded "Because I was with Michael Walsh before and after the incident, I knew how he was acting and I think there is a good chance that he committed the murder of Brenda Rucker." Swafford refers also to (1) a July 20, 1982, VCSO report in which Lestz revealed that an individual named Walsh committed three murders in Florida and one of

the victims was a white female in the Daytona Beach area; (2) a January 31, 1983, VCSO report indicating Lestz stated that between 6:00 a.m. and 10:30 a.m. on the days of the Rucker homicide Walsh and Levi left him in a laundromat in Daytona Beach, a couple of blocks from the Fina station and that Walsh frequented the Fina station from which Rucker was abducted; (3) a March 17, 1982, VCSO report indicating. Walsh was arrested in Arkansas for a armed robbery in which he told the victim he had killed three persons in the state of Florida and according to Arkansas authorities Walsh strongly resembled the composite of Brenda Rucker's killer; (4) a September 3, 1982, affidavit of Bernard Buscher, a VCSO deputy indicating that a) when Walsh was arrested in March 1982 he had a composite bulletin concerning the Rucker homicide b) Rucker's autopsy revealed two marks possibly caused by the application of a lighted cigarette c} Lestz stated that Walsh subjected him to homosexual attacks in which Lestz was burned with a cigarette d} the burns on Lestz body strongly resemble those burns found on the body of Brenda Rucker d} Lestz indicated that at 6:00 a.m. on February 14, 1982, Walsh and Levi took his van and disappeared. When Walsh returned he sold his two .38's in a Daytona Beach tavern. Walsh then dyed his hair black and forced Lestz to drive him to New Orleans; (5) a July 26, 1982, VCSO report indicating that when Walsh viewed several photos of the Rucker homicide he became extremely upset, nervous, and unsure of his statements. Walsh would not relate what he was doing or his whereabouts during the period of February 14-15, 1982, stating he would rather not say. CCR claimed due diligence but that it was unable to locate Lestz until a tracing service reported an address in April 1994. CCR cited the pressure of warrants and the deteriorating physical and

mental health and family life of former CCR attorney Jerome Nickerson and the fact of the late release of Chapter 119 documents by the state as the reason for an incomplete investigation, which reason was rejected previously by the Supreme Court of Florida. Swafford also alleged again the previously rejected claim that the state failed to correct perjured testimony.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court properly summarily denied Swafford's successive Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion as it merely rehashed a *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), claim in a previous 3.850 motion which was rejected by state and federal courts.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE CLAIM THAT SWAFFORD WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS BECAUSE THE STATE WITHHELD EVIDENCE; THAT COUNSEL WAS THEREBY RENDERED INEFFECTIVE; AND THAT NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES SWAFFORD IS INNOCENT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

The lower court properly summarily denied relief. The instant claim is procedurally barred. Pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(b) no motion shall be filed or considered if filed more than two (one) years after the judgment and sentence become final in a capital case in which a death sentence has been imposed. No fundamental constitutional right is being asserted which was not established within the period provided for in rule 3.850 and held to apply retroactively.

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